FILED
SID J. WHITE
JUL 27 19981

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

JEREMIAH BUTLER,
Respondent.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 93,499 DCA CASE NO. 96-04871

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

L. MICHAEL BILLMEIER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0983802

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT. 4595

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (District Court) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner, the prosecution, or the State. Respondent, Jeremiah Butler, the Appellant in the District Court and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent or proper name.

This brief is typed in 12 point Courier New, a font that is not proportionately spaced.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Butler v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1038 (Fla. 1st DCA April 17, 1998), and the opinion on rehearing, Butler v. State, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1495 (Fla. 1st DCA June 17, 1998), are attached as an appendix.

Respondent was convicted of armed burglary, two counts of armed robbery, and attempted second degree murder. <u>Butler</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D1038. In its initial opinion, the First District reversed Respondent's burglary conviction. <u>Id</u>. The court wrote,

[Butler] argues on appeal that the trial judge should have granted his motion for judgment of acquittal on the burglary charge because the only evidence at trial concerning the convenience store at the time of his entry was that it was open to the general public, and that one entering the premises under such circumstances cannot be convicted of burglary. We agree. Id.

On rehearing, the First District reversed one of Respondent's convictions for armed robbery because there was a single victim "only one robbery occurs, notwithstanding the fact that the property taken belonged to different owners." <u>Butler</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D1495.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In <u>Butler v. State</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1038 (Fla. 1st DCA April 17, 1998), the First District held that Respondent could not be convicted of burglary because the convenience store he robbed was open to the public at the time of the robbery. This holding conflicts with the <u>Garvin v. State</u>, 685 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), holding that a burglary can be committed in a business open to the public if the consent to remain in the business has been revoked. This Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve this conflict.

Further, the First District's opinion holds that only one robbery is permitted if there is only one victim. In <u>Brown v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 430 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1983), this Court explained that the dispositive question of whether there is more than one robbery is whether there are separate takings and a separate intent for each transaction. Under <u>Brown</u>, multiple robberies of the same victim are permitted under some circumstances. The First District's blanket pronouncement conflicts with <u>Brown</u>. This Court should also accept jurisdiction to resolve this conflict.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THERE IS EXPRESS AND DIRECT CONFLICT BETWEEN THE DECISION BELOW AND GARVIN V. STATE, 685 SO. 2D 17 (FLA. 3D DCA 1996).

The District Court's holding that Respondent cannot be convicted of burglary because the convenience store was open to the public when the crimes took place directly conflicts with the Third District's holding in <u>Garvin v. State</u>, 685 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), that a burglary can be committed in a business open to the public if the consent to remain in the business has been revoked. This Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflict between the District Courts of Appeal.

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), which parallels Article V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. The constitution provides:

The supreme court ... [m] ay review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

The conflict between decisions "must be express and direct" and "must appear within the four corners of the majority decision."

Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986).

There is direct conflict between the opinion below and <u>Garvin</u>. Butler was convicted of armed burglary, two counts of armed robbery, and attempted second degree murder. <u>Butler</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D1038. The First District reversed Butler's burglary conviction, writing:

[Butler] argues on appeal that the trial judge should have granted his motion for judgment of acquittal on the burglary charge because the only evidence at trial concerning the convenience store at the time of his entry was that it was open to the general public, and that one entering the premises under such circumstances cannot be convicted of burglary. We agree. <u>Id</u>.

<u>Butler</u> holds that one who enters a store that is open to the public cannot be convicted of burglary.

In <u>Garvin</u>, the Third District held the opposite. Garvin and his accomplices entered a McDonald's restaurant during the lunch hour and robbed the restaurant, employees, and customers.

<u>Garvin</u>, 685 So. 2d at 18. After being convicted of burglary, among other crimes, Garvin argued on appeal that he could not be convicted of burglary because the restaurant was open to the public at the time of the crimes and he is "exempt" from the burglary charge. <u>Id</u>. The court rejected Garvin's argument:

It is undisputed that the restaurant was open to the public at the time of the invasion. It was the middle of the lunch hour and members of the public were there eating. However, pursuant to the burglary statute, once a consensual entry is made, a consensual "remaining in" begins. Here, the question for the jury to resolve was whether Garvin remained in the premises with the intent to commit an offense therein after the consent to remain in the restaurant had been withdrawn. Id. (emphasis added).

The court found there was evidence to show any consent that Garvin had to be in the building had been withdrawn and affirmed the burglary conviction. Id.

Butler holds that a defendant cannot be convicted of burglary if the premises are open to the public when the defendant enters.

Garvin holds that a defendant can be convicted of burglary after entering a business open to the public if the jury can find that

the consent to be in the business was withdrawn. In <u>Laster v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D790 (Fla. 1st DCA March 24, 1998), <u>rev.</u>

<u>pending</u>, Case No. 92,864 (Fla. April 30, 1998), the First

District reversed the burglary conviction of Butler's co
defendant and certified conflict with <u>Garvin</u>. <u>Laster</u>, 23 Fla. L.

Weekly at D790. Like <u>Laster</u>, this case conflicts with <u>Garvin</u>.

This Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflict.

On rehearing, the First District reversed one of Respondent's armed robbery convictions, holding that since there was a single victim, only one conviction for robbery is permitted even though the property taken belonged to different owners. Butler, 23 Fla. L. Weekly at D1495. The holding here conflicts with this Court's opinion in Brown v. State, 430 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1983). In Brown, this Court affirmed two convictions for robbery when Brown robbed two employees' cash registers even though only one entity owned the money in the registers. Brown, 430 So. 2d at 446-447. Brown explained:

Actual ownership of the money obtained is not dispositive of the question of whether multiple robberies have been committed. What is dispositive is whether there have been successive and distinct forceful takings with a separate and independent intent for each transaction. Brown, 430 So. 2d at 447. (emphasis added).

The First District's holding that a single victim means that only one robbery conviction is permitted conflicts with <u>Brown</u>. Under <u>Brown</u>, a defendant could rob the same victim if there is a separate and independent intent for each transaction. The First District's opinion in <u>Butler</u> holds that, in all cases, only one

conviction is permitted. This Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflict.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reason, the State respectfully requests this Honorable Court exercise its discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision of the First District Court of Appeal.