OIS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE AUG 12 1998

FILED

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

Case No. 93,499

v.

.

JEREMIAH BUTLER,

Respondent.

# JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER

PHIL PATTERSON ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0444774 LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

###

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the appellee in the district court, and the prosecution in the trial court. The state will be referred to herein as petitioner. Respondent, Jeremiah Butler, was the appellant in the district court, and the defendant in the trial court. He will be referred to in this brief as respondent, or by his proper name.

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent concurs with petitioner's statement of the case and facts.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Any conflict between the instant case and <u>Garvin v. State</u>, 685 So.2d 17 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), was resolved by this Court in <u>Miller v. State</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S389 (Fla. July 16, 1998). Since the holding in the instant case is in complete harmony with the ruling in <u>Miller</u>, <u>supra</u>, the Court should decline to accept jurisdiction of this case. <u>Kyle v. Kyle</u>, 139 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1962).

Additionally, the state asserts that the opinion of the lower court is in direct and express conflict with the holding in <u>Brown v. State</u>, 430 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1983). Respondent respectfully disagrees. <u>Brown</u>, <u>supra</u>, is factually distinguishable in that there, a man entered a store and relieved two different cashiers of their money at gunpoint. Here, respondent entered a convenience store where one only person was working. He relieved that person of his wallet, and the proceeds from the cash register. While Brown's dual convictions for robbery were properly upheld, here, one of respondent's dual convictions for robbery was properly reversed.

Because of the factual difference between <u>Brown</u>, <u>supra</u>, and the instant case, this Court should decline to accept conflict jurisdiction. <u>Kyle v. Kyle</u>, <u>supra</u>.

3

#### ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

ANY POSSIBLE CONFLICT THAT MAY HAVE EXISTED BETWEEN THE INSTANT CASE AND <u>GARVIN V. STATE</u>, 685 So.2d 17 (FLA. 3D DCA 1996), HAS BEEN RESOLVED BY THIS COURT IN <u>MILLER V. STATE</u>, 23 FLA. L. WEEKLY S389 (FLA. JULY 16, 1998).

The state asserts that the instant case is in direct and express conflict with <u>Garvin v. State</u>, supra. Respondent agrees. That direct and express conflict, however, has already been resolved by this Court. <u>See</u>, <u>Miller v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. Consequently, the Court should decline to accept jurisdiction of this case.

Eleven days before petitioner filed the instant jurisdictional brief, this Court issued its opinion in <u>Miller v.</u> <u>State</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly S389 (Fla. July 16, 1998). The issue in <u>Miller</u>, as well as in <u>Garvin</u>, and the instant case, was whether a defendant could properly be convicted of burglary when he entered an open business establishment with the intention of committing a crime therein.

The state's theory was that consent to enter the business was implicitly revoked when the person who entered evinced an intent to commit a crime therein.

The <u>Miller</u> Court unanimously rejected that reasoning, and held

[Once] consensual entry is complete, a consensual 'remaining in' begins, and any

burglary conviction must be bottomed on proof that consent to 'remaining in' has been withdrawn. Miller entered the grocery store when it was open, and on this record we can find no evidence that consent was withdrawn.

Id.

Respondent asserts the <u>Miller</u> opinion is in complete harmony with the instant case. Although the case cited by the state, <u>Garvin v. State</u>, 685 So.2d 17 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), is in conflict with the case at bar, this Court's decision in <u>Miller</u>, <u>supra</u>, has resolved that conflict. Consequently, this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction of the instant case.

Next, the state argues that the instant case is in direct and express conflict with <u>Brown v. State</u>, 430 So.2d 446 (Fla. 1983). Respondent respectfully disagrees because the cases are factually distinguishable.

In <u>Brown</u>, <u>supra</u>, the defendant entered a Family Dollar Store, produced a firearm and confronted a cashier. After taking money from her cash register he proceeded to a second cash register. There, he relived a second cashier of more money. This Court upheld two convictions for robbery because Brown took money from two different cashiers by force, violence, assault, or putting in fear.

In the case at bar, appellant entered a convenience store, confronted the only employee working at the time, took that man's wallet as well as the store's money, and fled.

5

Thus, the case at bar is factually distinguishable from <u>Brown v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, because, unlike <u>Brown</u> where two separate individuals were relieved of property at gunpoint, here only one person was relieved of property at gunpoint. Consequently, this Court should not accept jurisdiction because the instant case and <u>Brown</u> are factually distinguishable.

,

#### CONCLUSION

Any conflict between the case at bar and <u>Garvin v. State</u>, supra, has already been resolved by this Court. <u>See</u>, <u>Miller v.</u> <u>State</u>, supra. Second, the instant case and <u>Brown v. State</u>, supra, are factually distinguishable. Therefore, there is no conflict for this Court to resolve.

Based on the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citations to authority, this Court should decline to accept conflict jurisdiction of this case.